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To use print, mobile media and the internet  

to create a personal reference world of information, 

entertainment and educational excellence that can 

be accessed anywhere, 24 hours a day.

Mission
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Chairman’s review

As a consequence of the above factors, net 
profit after tax of R139m for the year is 
significantly below last year. 

Newspapers and magazines

Media24 newspapers aimed to improve 
advertising sales through closer cooperation 
between community newspapers and daily 
titles. Emerging-market products continue to 
perform well. Daily Sun retained its position 
as Africa’s largest newspaper with an average 
circulation of 490 866 copies per day. The 
tabloid publication Son achieved an average 
circulation of 124 572 copies per day, growth 
of 14,8% on the prior year. Son is now the 
largest Afrikaans daily newspaper in the 
country.

The magazine division performed well 

despite challenging conditions and has 

grown both advertising and circulation 

market share marginally to 63,9% and 71,5%, 

respectively, against its major competitors. 

We continue our efforts to develop products 

aimed at the emerging market and 

established a business unit called Thought24 

to focus on the growing needs of the 

emerging female market.

Paarl Media

On 17 April 2009 a fire destroyed the 
premises of Paarl Print (Proprietary) Limited 
(“Paarl Print”) in Paarl and tragically claimed 
the lives of 13 people. We feel deeply for the 
families affected.

I am pleased to report satisfactory 

results under challenging conditions for 

the Media24 Holdings group for the 

financial year ended 31 March 2010. 

Results

Media24, like its competitors, faced  
challenging trading conditions over the past 
year with group revenues contracting by  
4,1% to R6,7bn, compared to the compound 
average growth rate of 14,2% achieved in the 
past five years. Net operating profits before 
amortisation and other gains and losses were 
lower than last year because of declining 
revenue, higher input costs, and retrenchment 
and restructuring costs, which were partially 
offset by staff reductions. We cut back 
development spend to R133m (2009: R199m).

The tax charge for the year increased 
substantially due to the write-down of 
unutilised deferred tax assets created in prior 
years of R207m.
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24.com is a leading internet publisher  
in South Africa

A formal inquiry in terms of section 32 of the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act (Act 85 
of 1993) is under way, with an outcome 
expected later this year. The formal inquiry 
will be followed by an inquest, a mandatory 
process. The outcome of the processes will 
determine whether there will be any further 
claims against the company or its officials, or 
related claims from or against third parties.

Despite the economic conditions and this 
tragic incident, the Paarl Media group 
managed to record a satisfactory 
performance.

Book publishing

The book-publishing business had a 
challenging year with educational publishers 
impacted by reduced spend from 
government education departments. 
However, NB Publishers fared well.

Internet

Kalahari.net is a market leader in South 
African online retail. In addition, kalahari.net’s 
Market Place was introduced in South Africa 
to offer consumer-to-consumer (C2C) trading 
for new and used products.

24.com is a leading internet publisher in 
South Africa, increasing its user base by 34% 
across its network of sites in 2009. News24 
remains the top local destination. During the 
year News24 extended its brand into mobile 
applications and increased its WAP (wireless 
application protocol) mobile audience.
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Chairman’s review (continued)

of Welkom Yizani shares did not grow as 
expected at the time of the offer. This meant 
that the debt owing in terms of the scheme 
would not be reduced as much by the end 
of the minimum investment period,  
originally December 2011, as projected. 
Welkom Yizani shareholders, in a general 
meeting on 15 December 2009, approved 
the following proposals, aimed at improving 
the prospect of benefiting from their  
original investment:

  Naspers to write off R330m (comprising 
around R119m of Naspers’s accumulated 
dividends and a reduction of preference 
capital by R211m).

Welkom Yizani scheme

In 2006 Media24 concluded a broad-based 
black economic empowerment share offer, 
Welkom Yizani, resulting in some 100 000 
black people and groups owning an indirect 
interest in Media24. At the time, Welkom 
Yizani Investments Limited (“Welkom Yizani”) 
shares were valued at R50 per share, but 
could be bought for R10 each. The remaining 
R40 per share was funded by Naspers Limited 
(“Naspers”), to be repaid by dividends earned 
from Media24.  

Given the impact of the global economic 
recession on Media24’s profitability, the value 
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Welkom Yizani will receive a dividend of  
R15 million

  A reduction in dividends payable in 
respect of the preference shares. 

  An extension of the Welkom Yizani scheme 
by a further two years, to December 2013, 
in order to provide participants a better 
opportunity to make a profit. 

Dividend

It was a difficult year but the board felt that a 

dividend has to be declared, even though it 

is not as much as last year.

Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited 

(“Media24 Holdings”) will declare a dividend 

of R100m (2009: R165m), subject to the 

approval of shareholders at the annual 

general meeting on 22 September 2010. 

Welkom Yizani will receive a dividend of  

R15m (2009: R24,75m). Welkom Yizani will in 

turn declare a preference dividend of  

R10,8m (2009: R19,8m) in terms of the 

preference share agreement. The balance of 

the dividend received by Welkom Yizani,  

less expenses, will be declared as an  

ordinary dividend to its shareholders. As a 

result, a dividend of R4,2m (2009: R4,95m)  

(subject to the approval of shareholders at 

the annual general meeting noted above 

and the Welkom Yizani annual general 

meeting on the same day) equating to  

28,9 cents per share (2009: 33,9 cents per 

share) will be declared by Welkom Yizani.

Board

In terms of Media24 Holdings’ articles of 
association, one-third of directors are subject 
to retirement and re-election by shareholders 
every year. Accordingly, Prof R C C Jafta,  
Ms G M Landman and Messrs T Vosloo and  
J P Bekker will retire by rotation this year and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for  
re-election.

In line with the principles of the King III 
Report on Corporate Governance in South 
Africa 2009, Mr J J Pieterse was appointed as 
the director responsible for the finance 
function in Media24 and Media24 Holdings, 
effective 1 May 2010.

People

I thank our people in all our businesses for 
their energy, innovation and commitment.  
To my fellow board members, I express my 
appreciation for their support and 
contributions over the past year.

We look forward to a better 2010/11. 

 

 
 
G J Gerwel 

Chairman

30 August 2010
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Review of operations

Introduction

Media24’s circulation revenue grew by 6%, 

while advertising revenue contracted by 

3,2%, a mirror image of the economic cycle. 

Despite these challenging conditions, we 

were able to either maintain or increase 

market share in both circulation and 

advertising.

Input cost in items such as paper and ink 

increased. The process initiated in the prior 

financial year to manage our cost base, 

particularly headcount levels, continued.  

At the same time, greater efficiencies  

were achieved. 

We closed some non-profitable businesses 

and restructured certain business units. 

Notable performances were recorded by 

kalahari.net, which remains a market  

leader in online retail in South Africa and 

grew by 32% over the past year, and 24.com, 

a leading internet publisher in South Africa, 

which increased its domestic audience  

by 34%.

The foundation has been laid for a more 

effective, streamlined company geared to 

meet the challenges facing media 

organisations worldwide.

Newspapers

It was a year of intense restructuring and cost 

management for our newspaper business. 
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Daily Sun is the largest daily  
newspaper in Africa

www.media24.co.za  

Loss-making publications were closed, and 

businesses streamlined and refocused to 

ensure optimal structures are in place for 

growth. Substantial cost savings were 

achieved through staff reductions and 

improved efficiency.

Despite difficult trading conditions, we 

maintained or increased both advertising 

and circulation market share. 

Emerging-market products continue to 

perform well. Daily Sun is the largest daily 

newspaper in Africa, with an average 

circulation of 490 866 copies per day.  

The tabloid publication, Son, now has an 

average circulation of 124 572 copies per day. 

A Sunday edition, Sondag Son, was launched 

and has a circulation of 57 816 copies per 

week. Sunday Sun’s average circulation grew 

by 3,2% to 220 103 copies per week.

The broadsheet daily titles performed 

satisfactorily. The Sunday papers, City Press 

and Rapport, were both rejuvenated by 

redesign.

Our medium-term goal is to rebuild the 

profitability of our newspapers through, 

among others, cost management and  

market development.

Magazines

The past year was one of the toughest for the 

magazine industry worldwide, marked by 

steep declines in advertising. Locally, 

circulation remained remarkably stable.  

Due to the strength of our diverse portfolio 

of titles, Media24 magazines increased its 

market share for both advertising and 

circulation. 

The division established a dedicated business 

unit, Thought24, to focus on the growing 
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Review of operations (continued)

needs of the emerging female 

market with titles such as True Love, 

Move! and Real. 

The introduction of new titles was 

limited but Women’s Health was 

successfully launched. Several 

established magazine titles 

supplemented their brands and 

successfully launched brand 

extensions such as  

SARie WOON, SARie GeSOND 

and Tuis Selfdoen.

Some titles were closed, 

including Femina and Real 

Simple and the titles Adam and 

Twende in East Africa.

Paarl Media 

Margins came under pressure 

with numerous plant 

amalgamations or moves to 

ensure efficiencies of scale  

and location are achieved.  

A greenfields site is being 

developed in KwaZulu-Natal to 

enable Paarl Media to provide 

flexible production facilities to the 

target market. 

24.com

24.com, the country’s largest internet 

publisher, increased its user base by more 

than 34% to 2,7 million South Africans per 

month. News24 remains the top local 

destination with 1,6 million unique users  

per month. A variety of sub-brands like 

Fin24, Sport24 and Health24 are category 

leaders. During the year News24 extended 

its brand into mobile applications for the 

iPhone, Android, Blackberry and Nokia 

platforms, and its WAP mobile audience.  

24.com also launched innovative projects 

such as Afridoctor and Flirtaroo. 

Kalahari.net is a market leader in South 

African online retail. The company provides 
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Kalahari.net is a market leader in South African  
   online retail

importer of books into the South African 

market.

Future Entrepreneurs introduced a “talking 

textbook” and “interactive pen”. 

On the Dot

On the Dot distributes media products 
ranging from publications to CDs, DVDs and 
consumer electronic devices. It also focuses 
on supply chains for books, magazines, 
newspapers, digital content, music, 
consumer electronics and leaflets. 

Margins are under pressure, but the 
downturn is providing opportunities to 
increase market share, supported by a focus 
on operational efficiencies. On the Dot aims 
to increase its service offering to cover 
supply chains to as broad a range of 
electronic devices as possible and delivery  
of physical goods using print-on-demand 
technology. The business unit plans to 
increase the territories in which it offers  
its services.

the broadest range of products at 

competitive prices and has grown by  

32% over the past year. Several new product 

categories are showing growth. In addition, 

kalahari.net’s Market Place was introduced in 

South Africa to offer C2C trading for new  

and used products.

Via Afrika

The book-publishing business had a tough 

year. Educational publishers underperformed, 

mainly due to reduced spend by 

government education departments, while 

general publishers were hit by the 

economic downturn. Some units, 

like NB Publishers, continued to 

perform well. NB Publishers is 

South Africa’s biggest local 

publisher with a market 

share of 18,3%.

The merged business of 

Jonathan Ball Publishers and 

Book Promotions is the top 
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Empowerment and sustainability

for a number of key indicators and this report 

will therefore focus on the progress made by 

Media24.

Our people

Media24 has 6 382 permanent employees. 

The group complies with labour legislation 

and statutory reports have been submitted.  

Introduction

The Media24 group has played an important 
role in sustainable development in South 
Africa – economically through the 
remuneration paid to employees, taxes to 
government and through its broad-based 
black economic empowerment scheme. 
Socially, we emphasise our community 
involvement and environmentally we want 
to reduce the broader group impact by using 
sophisticated printing technologies, recycling 
and focusing on energy efficiency. 

One of Media24’s most important 

contributions has been education through 

communication in print media – taking the 

country’s most popular titles into every 

corner of the country.

Scope of the report

South Africa is a nation in transition, focused 

on maximising the benefits of our still-young 

democracy for all. Clear targets have been set 

2010

3 524

2 858

4 235

2 860

2009

Male

Female

In answer to the recession in the past year, the 

group restructured its operations in line with 

its revised strategy to ensure a cost-effective 

operation. While this reduced the workforce to 

right-size costs in a severe recession, forced 

retrenchments were kept to a minimum. In all 

retrenchment cases, severance benefits were 

significantly better than those prescribed by 

the Basic Conditions of Employment Act and 

so far no retrenchments have been successfully 

challenged at the Commission for Conciliation, 

Mediation and Arbitration (CCMA).

Workforce
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Diversity and employment equity

The group values diversity in its workforce, with the current demographic profile indicated 

below. 

Black
18%

Indian
2%

Foreign
1%

2010 employee diversity

Coloured
32%

White
47%

Male

  Black        White        Disabled

2010 2009

2%

38% 60%

Female

2%

58%
40%

Male

1%

40%
59%

Female

1%

54%
45%

2010 employee diversity

Media24’s workforce
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Empowerment and sustainability (continued)

Media24 awarded 127 bursaries in total  

to employees for part-time study in 2010.

The Paarl Media group learnership 

programme is entrenched at all plants. In 

collaboration with the Printing Industries 

Federation of South Africa (PIFSA), a revised 

printers’ trade curriculum was completed in 

2009. The group management trainee 

programme gives previously disadvantaged 

graduates an opportunity to enter the 

organisation at trainee-management level. 

Given the critical need for skills development 

and specialised training in the printing 

industry, Paarl Media broke ground by 

establishing the Academy 

of Print (AOP) to 

address some of the 

most prevalent 

needs utilising the 

revised printers’ 

trade curriculum. 

Transformation 

In 2004 Media24 

established a 

transformation forum that 

functions as a policy-making body 

to monitor various elements of the South 

African black economic empowerment 

scorecard. The forum is chaired by Media24’s 

chief executive officer and includes senior 

managers from each business unit. In recent 

years, Media24 has made progress with its 

Appropriate consultative forums protect  

the interests of employees, provide 

representation and have become a valuable 

platform for joint decision-making. Media24 

views employment equity as a strategic 

advantage. Each business unit has an 

employment equity plan and strategy with 

specific objectives. Despite the overall 

reduction in staff numbers, the percentage of 

designated groups, particularly black people, 

has improved to 52%. Diversity training is 

actively promoted across the company. 

Media24 invested some R12,5m in 

the current financial year in 

developing employees at various 

levels.

Skills development

Across the group, skills 

development is critical to 

maintain our competitive 

advantage, particularly  

in our technology-

intensive businesses.



Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited   

Page 13

This is my DRUM.

Media24 has increased its BBBee score from 58 to 66  
with a 100% recognition level

The offer was three times fully subscribed. In 

December 2009 Naspers wrote off R330m of 

its funding in Welkom Yizani. The scheme was 

also extended by a further two years to 

December 2013. This proactive action has 

given Welkom Yizani shareholders a better 

opportunity to profit from their original 

investment.

Black economic empowerment partners

Media24 and other Naspers group 

companies have combined their buying 

power in South Africa in a centralised 

bargaining company called M-Web 

CommerceZone, which must implement a 

black economic empowerment procurement 

policy (BEE procurement policy) in respect  

of purchases. Suppliers’ BEE performance is 

evaluated against specific criteria and 

suppliers are expected to show a marked 

improvement in their annual BEE rating.

transformation aims, which are monitored 

against a scorecard for the Department  

of Trade and Industry’s code of good  

practice for broad-based black economic 

empowerment (BBBEE). On this measure, 

Media24 has increased its score from 58 to 

66, making it a level-four contributor with  

a 100% recognition level. We received full 

marks on the enterprise development and 

socio-economic development elements of 

the scorecard. 

Direct empowerment

Welkom Yizani

In 2006 Media24 launched the biggest  

BBBEE share offer in the print media industry, 

Welkom Yizani, resulting in eligible black 

people and groups 

acquiring equity in 

Media24 Holdings. 
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Empowerment and sustainability (continued)

Gauteng, respectively. Kurisani also 

finances loveLife, a community 

organisation that runs life skills and  

HIV/Aids prevention campaigns for 

youngsters countrywide.

Health and safety

Implementing a healthy and safe 

workplace at both administrative 

and production facilities is a 

preference. Appropriate medical 

emergency and disaster recovery 

plans have been devised for operating 

businesses. Annual occupational health and 

safety risk-control audits are conducted by 

South African operational entities and 

improvements implemented as required. 

In addition to its 4 956 salaried employees the 

group employs 1 902 people, mainly in the 

distribution and printing operations, and 

makes extensive use of contractors and 

organisers. Most of these workers are from 

previously disadvantaged backgrounds and 

receive training from Media24 to equip them 

to execute their jobs in a safe and effective 

manner. The nature of the print business, 

Other company-specific procurement 

initiatives include:

  At Newspaper Leaflet Distributors (NLD), 

a distribution business in Media24, about 

95% of its contractors come from 

previously disadvantaged communities. 

They, in turn, provide jobs to over 

2 000 employees countrywide. 

  The establishment of an 

independent and black-owned 

postal service company, Multi-Mail, 

following the rationalisation of 

Media24’s postal service. 

  NND24, one of Media24’s distribution 

businesses, provides jobs for over 600 

people through 119 private contractors 

who provide ancillary services. 

  Several Media24 titles such as Daily Sun, 

Kaapse Son and City Press use contractors 

to sell and distribute their products, 

providing job opportunities to more than 

2 000 newspaper sellers.

  Media24 has partnerships with several BEE 

companies. Kurisani Investments has a 16% 

shareholding in Paarl Print and Paarl Web 
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Media24 conducts annual safety, health and  
environmental compliance audits

conducted an extensive review 

and gap analysis of all its factories, 

and the following steps have been 

taken:

  Replacement of Kulite as the 

thermal under-roof insulation material at all 

facilities at a cost of approximately R50m.

  A communication plan was executed to 

ensure an adequate and improved 

understanding of health and safety 

requirements within the Paarl Media group.

  More stringent appointment and screening 

processes were instituted for the 

recruitment of professional teams.

  Improvements to systems were 

implemented to ensure improved health 

and safety elements such as hazard 

identification and risk assessments, related 

training (including fire drills) and re-

inspection of facilities by internal and 

external parties. 

There were no other deaths on duty in the 

group. 

which owns and manages distribution 

networks and printing facilities, makes it the 

area in the group where the inherent risk for 

injuries on duty are most likely. The Media24 

safety, health and environmental committee,  

a subcommittee of the Media24 board, was 

formed in 2008 and monitors significant 

related issues in the group.

Monitoring 

Media24 conducts annual safety, health and 

environmental compliance audits as well as 

building scans. Injuries on duty are stringently 

monitored, and the company aims to have as 

few as possible injuries or deaths on duty. 

Tragically, a fire at Paarl Print in April 2009 

caused 13 deaths and serious injuries to four 

people, the worst in the group’s history. We 

feel deeply for the families affected. Group 

companies assisted the affected families 

financially by paying out approximately R6,8m. 

Assistance was also provided in the 

submission of their Compensation for 

Occupational Injuries and Diseases Act, 1993 

(COIDA) claims. The Paarl Media group has 
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Empowerment and sustainability (continued)

implications of the disease. 

Comprehensive programmes 

comprise: 

 information and awareness 

    campaigns 

 voluntary free testing 

 free counselling, and 

  comprehensive medical treatment 

programmes.

Environment

In the past year, the group re-evaluated its 

direct impact on the environment. Results show 

that the most significant direct impact on the 

environment remains the use of electricity 

(so-called scope 2 emissions). Given that the 

main source of electricity in South Africa is coal, 

which has a higher emission rate of coal-fired 

power, 95% of the group’s total carbon footprint 

stems from the use of electricity. 

Media24’s carbon footprint was measured for 

the first time in the previous reporting period.  

As a publisher and printer, the direct impact on 

the environment lies in electricity used for 

printing activities. 

Wellness

Several wellness programmes are operated  

by the group in a preventative approach  

to employee health. These range from 

programmes to assist employees to stop 

smoking to HIV/Aids tests. Regular medical, eye 

and hearing tests are performed on drivers and 

staff exposed to noise. 

Professional and 

independent 

psychological and 

social support is 

provided for staff.

Media24 has a 

wellness centre at its 

Cape Town offices 

and certain printing 

facilities. Health 

services offered 

include hyper-

tension and 

diabetes testing, free HIV/Aids 

counselling and testing, and a number of 

risk-control programmes. Ongoing wellness 

support is also provided by mobile clinics 

throughout the company. 

HIV/Aids

Media24 is acutely  

aware of the HIV/Aids 

pandemic in Africa, and the 

social and economic 
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initiatives at the head office in Cape Town resulted in  
a 5% reduction of this office’s carbon footprint

The group implemented energy saving 

light fittings as well as motion sensors 

in its head office in Cape Town, 

resulting in an annual reduction of 5% 

in the building’s carbon footprint.

The group measured the direct emissions 

of 14 locations across South Africa and will 

focus on refining the process of collecting 

complete sets of data in the coming year.

Media24’s paper suppliers are based in  

South Africa and Europe and are continuously 

investigating options to limit the impact  

on the environment while ensuring that 

top-quality paper products are used in our 

publications. 

Paarl Media is the first African printing 

organisation to receive the Forest Stewardship 

Council (FSC) chain-of-custody certification. 

This is an independent international 

verification that products printed can be 

traced back from their point of origin to 

responsible, well-managed forestry, controlled 

and recycled sources. 

To counter irregular electricity supply in recent 

years, Media24 has installed generators at its 

operational centres to ensure continuous 

production. 

The carbon footprint by sector in Media24 

totalling 94 509 tonnes (2009: 77 463 tonnes) 

of CO
2
 is: 

During the past year, the focus was to gain  

a more accurate assessment of the direct 

carbon footprint of the group, accounting  

for some 18% of the reported 27% increase. 

One facility was brought into scope (4%).  

The remainder of the increase in gross, direct 

emissions is due to increased operational 

activity.

Printing
plants
72%

Logistics
4%

Digital
2%

O�ce
buildings

22%

2010Carbon footprint spread
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Empowerment and sustainability (continued)

dryers meet the strictest global emission 

compliance standards. In addition, energy from 

the oxidisation process is recovered to be 

reused in the drying section, vastly reducing 

gas consumption. 

Fines

In the past year there were no environmental 

accidents nor were any environmentally 

related fines imposed by the government. 

Our communities

The group plays an active role in its 

communities, focusing mainly on literacy and 

educational programmes. In the review 

period, group companies spent the 

equivalent of R16m on corporate social 

investment initiatives. 

Because Media24 operates 

in a highly regulated 

environment in South 

Africa, legal compliance is 

important. Media24 

Paarl Media offers clients a range of 

environmentally sustainable paper and has 

taken the lead in the print industry in South 

Africa by recognising the impact of print-

production processes on natural resources 

and proactively implementing practices  

to minimise these effects. As part of its 

environmental policy, the company is actively 

seeking measures to eliminate emissions. The 

Paarl Media group focuses strongly on 

projects to reduce, reuse and recycle. It 

recycles all paper not sold as part of the 

printed product to Mondi, a paper 

manufacturer which reuses the paper. 

Newspapers are printed on recycled paper.

Eliminating emissions

Paarl Media led the way in South Africa in 2005 

by installing sophisticated technology to 

service all web presses and eliminate emissions 

in line with international standards. In 2007 

certain web presses were fitted with advanced 

dryers to ensure emissions are free of odour, 

visual smoke and polluting substances. These 
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A world of educational excellence that can  
be accessed 24 hours a day

initiative. As its flagship project, the 

Media24 Lapdesk Challenge receives 

advertising support of over R4m.

  Media24’s support for the arts continued 

with financial sponsorship and editorial 

support for Aardklop, KKNK and the 

Suidooster and Volksblad festivals in 

particular. The aim is to provide 

opportunities for emerging artists and to 

make productions accessible to previously 

disadvantaged communities.  

  Media24 supported the development of 
several high-school-prescribed reading 
books into stage productions which 
attracted thousands of learners to theatres.

  An active Volunteers24 team 

(now over 200 individuals) 

worked on numerous projects 

including WWF’s Earth Hour 

(supported by extensive 

advertising and editorial support from 

Media24 publications), the Rachel’s Angels 

therefore plays an active and constructive  

role in the regulatory process affecting the 

communications industry by participating in 

various public forums and debates to assist 

regulators in formulating standards and 

strategies for this industry. The group received 

no significant fines for non-compliance in  

the past year.

Media24 wants all South Africans to read. 

Accordingly, the company has invested in 

numerous projects that educate, uplift and 

develop, especially projects related to its 

industry, such as literacy. Current initiatives 

include the following: 

  Through the Media24 Lapdesk Challenge, 

the company has donated almost 30 000 

lapdesks to needy schools. Several 

Media24 publications such as Rapport, 

Sunday Sun, City Press, Tuis/Home and the 

community newspaper, 

City Vision, have 

supported this 
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Empowerment and sustainability (continued)

mentorship and various media-in-the-

classroom projects. The volunteer corps 

also upgraded community, administration 

and computer centres of a primary school 

and developed a green initiative in Elsies 

River, Cape Town, raised money for an  

HIV/Aids project in KwaZulu-Natal and 

participated in toy drives for preschools  

in underprivileged communities. 

  Mentorship programmes in association 

with the University of Stellenbosch 

(Rachel’s Angels Trust) and University  

of Fort Hare (Inkwenkwezi Trust) are 

progressing well. In the past financial year, 

over 226 grade 12 learners from 28 high 

schools in the Western and Eastern Cape 

participated in these programmes. Final 

matriculation results were encouraging, 

with the best mentored learner scoring 

five distinctions and a pass rate of 83,6%. 

Two participating schools achieved fifth 

and sixth spots on the Western Cape 

Education Department’s list of schools 

with the best progress in 2009. Both trusts 

also initiated extensive programmes for 

teachers, which include project 

management courses and school 

management training.

  Media24’s MiK project (an acronym for 

Media in die Klaskamer and a play on the 

Afrikaans word ‘mik’) helps learners use 

newspapers for their daily schoolwork.  

MiK aims to create a culture of reading  

and learning among learners, teachers  

and the broader community. 

The Paarl Media group is active in its 

communities at both social and 

environmental levels. Some of its current 

projects include:

  The Paarl Mountain project aims to clear 

the area of alien vegetation. In early 2009 
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employment programme. Its vendors are 

mainly long-term unemployed people 

from the townships of Cape Town.

  The Paarl Media Bursary Trust provides 

funding in perpetuity for previously 

disadvantaged students, 

mainly from the Paarl 

community, to study at 

tertiary level at the University 

of Stellenbosch, University of 

the Western Cape, Cape 

Peninsula University of 

Technology and the Elsenburg 

Agricultural College. The trust 

provided bursaries to seven 

tertiary students in 2008, nine 

in 2009 and 10 students in 

2010. Currently 22 students 

are completing their degrees.

Conclusion

Our aim is to create value 

for our shareholders and a 

productive environment for our people 

whilst using print, mobile media and the 

internet to create a personal reference world 

of information, entertainment and 

educational excellence that can be accessed 

anywhere, 24 hours a day. We also try to be 

useful to the communities we serve. 

We hope that our shareholders experience 

our endeavours in this way.

Paarl was hit with three major fires, 

including a series of fires raging over the 

Paarl mountain. Paarl Media and Colors 

Fruit (a fruit export company in Paarl), after 

suffering fires at their respective plants, 

initiated a project of R1,2m to 

offer sustainable employment 

for affected workers while 

addressing growing 

environmental issues in the 

region. 

  Paarl Web supports The Big 

Issue by sponsoring printing 

and binding services. The Big 

Issue is a socially responsible 

organisation that enables 

willing, unemployed and 

marginalised adults to take 

responsibility for their own lives 

through a developmental 

The Paarl Media group is active in its communities  
at both social and environmental levels
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Governance

committees fulfil key roles in ensuring 

good corporate governance. 

The group uses independent external 

advisors to monitor regulatory 

developments, locally and internationally, 

to enable management to make 

recommendations to the board on 

corporate governance.

The board has a process to annually review 

the effectiveness and role of the board and 

its chair, as well as the effectiveness of the 

respective board subcommittees. 

Assessing the functioning of the audit and 

risk management committee includes a 

focus on the key competencies of the 

committee.

Whistle-blowing facilities are in place to 

enable employees to anonymously report 

unethical conduct in the workplace.

Status: new Companies Act and King III 

The impact of the new Companies Act and 

King III was a focus of the past year. 

The board and its subcommittees made 

good progress in assessing the principles 

and practices contained in King III.

Subsequent to year-end, the board 

approved revised board and 

Introduction

The board of directors conducts the 

group’s businesses with integrity by 

applying appropriate corporate 

governance policies and practices. 

Media24 Holdings is a subsidiary of 

Naspers (a company listed on the JSE 

Limited and the London Stock Exchange). 

It consequently aims to comply, where 

appropriate, with the guidelines of the 

King Report on Corporate Governance for 

South Africa 2002 (King II). 

The implications of the new Companies 

Act, No 71 of 2008, in South Africa (signed 

into law on 8 April 2009), as well as the 

King III Code and Report on Corporate 

Governance in South Africa 2009 (King III), 

are being analysed. 

Media24 Holdings has an independent 

board of directors, which has established 

its own governance practices and 

subcommittees that comply in the main 

with applicable governance and regulatory 

requirements.

The board’s audit and risk management 

committee, safety, health and 

environmental committee, as well as the 

human resources and nomination 
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subcommittee charters, which will come 

into effect in the new financial year.  

The responsibilities of the audit and risk 

management committee were separated 

and a new risk committee formed. A plan 

to address aspects of King III was 

approved, with implementation well under 

way. Where appropriate for the group, the 

necessary changes to our governance 

policies and practices will be made. If any 

principles or practices are found to be 

inappropriate for the group, the reason for 

not implementing or not complying with 

King III’s recommendations will be 

disclosed.

Media24 will produce an integrated report 

for the financial year to 31 March 2011 and 

report on the application of King III at that 

time.

The board

Composition

Details of directors as at 31 March 2010 are 

set out on pages 34 to 36 of this annual 

report. 

Media24 Holdings has a unitary board that 

fulfils oversight and controlling functions. 

The board has a charter evidencing a clear 

division of responsibilities. The majority of 

board members are non-executive directors 

and independent of management, to ensure 

that no one individual has unfettered 

powers of decision-making and authority. 

The roles of chair and chief executive are 

separate for a clearly defined division of 

responsibilities.

On 1 April 2009 Mr S J Z Pacak was 

reappointed to the board after a three-month 

sabbatical. Mr J J Pieterse was appointed to 

the board with effect from 1 May 2010. Short 

biographical details of Mr Pieterse appear on 

page 36 of this annual report.

At 31 March 2010 the board comprised 

seven independent, non-executive directors, 

three non-executive directors and one 

executive director. Four directors (36%) are 

from previously disadvantaged groups and 

two directors (18%) are female. 

The chair

The chair is an independent,  

non-executive director. He provides 

guidance to the board as a whole and 

ensures the board is efficient, focused and 

operates as a unit. He acts as facilitator at 

board meetings to ensure a flow of  
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Governance (continued)

Directors are invited to give their input  

in identifying potential candidates. 

Members of the nomination committee,  

all non-executive, propose suitable 

candidates for consideration by the board. 

A ‘fit and proper’ evaluation is performed 

for each identified candidate.

Retirement and re-election of directors

One-third of directors retire annually.  

This year Prof R C C Jafta, Ms G M Landman 

and Messrs T Vosloo and J P Bekker will 

retire, but are available for re-election.  

Their brief biographical details are 

included on pages 34 to 36 of this  

annual report. The reappointment of 

directors is not automatic. During the year,  

Mr T M F Phaswana resigned from  

the board.

Orientation and development

An induction programme is held for new 

members of the board and of key 

committees, specifically tailored to the 

needs of individual appointees. This involves 

industry and company-specific orientation, 

such as company visits and meetings with 

senior management, to facilitate an 

understanding of operations. The company 

secretary assists the chair with induction 

opinions and attempts to lead discussions 

to optimal outcomes in the interest of 

good governance. He also occasionally 

represents the board in external 

communications in consultation with the 

chief executive and chief financial officer. 

The chief executive

The chief executive reports to the board 

and is responsible for the day-to-day 

business of the group and implementation 

of policies and strategies approved by the 

board. Chief executives of the various 

businesses in the Media24 group assist 

him in this task. Board authority conferred 

on management is delegated through the 

chief executive, in accordance with 

approved authority levels.

Appointments to the board

The board has adopted a policy on 

procedures for the appointment and 

orientation of directors. The nomination 

committee periodically assesses the  

skills represented on the board by  

non-executive directors and determines 

whether these skills meet the company’s 

needs. Annual self-evaluations conducted 

by the board and its subcommittees assist 

with this process. 
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responsibilities. Among other obligations, 

the board: 

  provides strategic direction to the 

company and is responsible for the 

adoption of strategic plans originating 

from management

  approves the annual business plan and 

budget compiled by management, for 

implementation by management

  retains full and effective control over the 

company and monitors management in 

implementing the approved annual 

budget and strategies 

  appoints the chief executive, who is 

accountable to the board

  approves the company’s financial 

statements and is responsible for their 

integrity and reasonable presentation 

  assesses the viability of the company 

and the group on a going-concern basis 

  determines the company’s external 

communication policy

  determines director selection (with due 

consideration to shareholder 

arrangements), orientation and 

evaluation

  ensures the company has appropriate 

risk management, internal controls and 

regulatory compliance procedures in 

and orientation of directors, including 

arranging specific training, if required. 

The company will continue director 

development to build on expertise and 

develop an understanding of the 

businesses and the markets in which  

it operates.

Conflicts of interest

Potential conflicts of interest are 

appropriately managed to ensure that 

candidate directors, as well as existing 

directors, are free of conflicts between the 

obligations they have to the company and 

their personal interests. Any interest in 

contracts with the company must be 

formally disclosed and documented. 

Directors must also adhere to a policy on 

trading in securities of its ultimate holding 

company, Naspers.

Independent advice

Individual directors may, after consulting 

with the chair or chief executive, seek 

independent professional advice, at the 

expense of the company, on any matter 

connected with the discharge of their 

responsibilities as directors.

Role and function of the board 

The board has a charter setting out its 
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at meetings are provided in the table on 

page 37 of this annual report.

Board subcommittees

While the whole board remains 

accountable for the performance and 

affairs of the company, it delegates to 

board subcommittees and management 

certain functions to assist it in properly 

discharging its duties. Appropriate 

structures for those delegations are in 

place, accompanied by monitoring and 

reporting systems. 

Each subcommittee acts within agreed, 

written terms of reference. The chair of 

each subcommittee reports at each 

scheduled board meeting. 

The chair of each subcommittee is a 

non-executive director and is required to 

attend annual general meetings to answer 

questions raised by shareholders. 

The established board subcommittees are 

detailed below:

Executive committee

This committee is chaired by an 

independent, non-executive director,  

Prof G J Gerwel. Four members are 

independent, non-executive directors, two 

are non-executive directors and one is an 

place, and communicates with share 

owners and relevant stakeholders 

openly and promptly, with substance 

prevailing over form

  establishes subcommittees of the board 

with clear terms of reference and 

responsibilities

  defines levels of materiality and 

delegates specific matters with the 

necessary written authority to 

subcommittees of the board and 

management

  monitors non-financial aspects relevant 

to the business of the company

  considers and, if appropriate, approves 

declaration of dividends to shareholders, 

and 

  regularly evaluates the performance and 

effectiveness of the board and its 

subcommittees. 

Board meetings and attendance

The board meets regularly, at least four 

times a year, and when circumstances 

require. The board held four meetings 

during the past financial year.

The company secretary acts as secretary  

to the board and its subcommittees and 

attends all meetings. Details of attendance 
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  address all matters required to be dealt 

with by an audit committee in terms of 

the South African Companies Act

  review and recommend to the board for 
approval the company’s annual financial 
statements

  receive, evaluate and, where applicable, 
approve the external auditor’s plans, 
reports and findings 

  review and make recommendations to 
the board on the viability of the 
company and the group on a going-
concern basis 

  evaluate the internal audit and risk 
management functions, including their 
charters, activities, scope, adequacy, 
effectiveness and costs, and approve 
annual plans and any material changes 
to these

  evaluate procedures and systems 
introduced by management (including 
internal controls, disclosure controls and 
procedures and information systems) 

  evaluate legal matters that may affect 
the financial statements 

  establish procedures for the treatment 
of complaints received by the company 
on accounting, internal control or 
auditing matters

executive director. Meetings are attended 

by executive management by invitation, as 

appropriate. This committee acts on behalf 

of the board when the board is not in 

session, within the powers granted by the 

articles to the directors, subject to 

statutory restrictions.

Audit and risk management committee

This committee, chaired by Prof R C C Jafta, 

comprises only non-executive, 

independent directors. All members are 

financially literate and have substantial 

business and financial acumen.

The committee held four meetings during 

the financial year. Details of attendance at 

meetings by members of this 

subcommittee appear on page 37. The chief 

executive, chief financial officer and chair of 

the board attend committee meetings by 

invitation. Both internal and external 

auditors have unrestricted access to the 

committee through the chair. The internal 

and external auditors may also report their 

findings to the committee with members 

of executive management not in 

attendance.

Among others, the main responsibilities of 

the audit and risk management committee 

are to:
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executive leaders, including bonus 

incentive schemes 

  regularly review the company’s code of 

business ethics

  approve senior appointments, 

promotions of senior members of the 

executive and submit proposals to the 

board on the appointment of editors, 

and review succession plans for these 

senior positions

  evaluate any cases of unethical business 

behaviour by senior managers and 

executives of the company 

  review employment equity and skills 

development plans, and 

  fulfil delegated obligations for Media24 

share-based incentive schemes, including 

the appointment of trustees and the 

compliance officer as well as approving 

amendments to the share-based 

incentive schemes of the group.

Nomination committee

This committee is chaired by  

Prof G J Gerwel and comprises only 

independent, non-executive directors. 

Non-executive directors and certain 

members of management attend 

  review alleged incidents reported 
through the whistle-blower facility

  determine principles for the use of the 

external auditor for non-audit services, 

and

  evaluate the effectiveness of the 

committee.

Human resources committee

This committee, chaired by Mr T Vosloo, 

comprises only independent,  

non-executive directors. Non-executive 

directors and certain members of 

management attend meetings by 

invitation. The committee met five times 

during the financial year. Details of 

attendance at meetings by members of 

this subcommittee appear on page 37.

Among others, the main responsibilities of 

the human resources committee are to:

  determine the company’s general policy 

on remuneration and specific 

philosophy on remuneration of 

executive leaders, including share-based 

incentive schemes

  annually appraise the performance of 

the chief executive, and review and 

approve remuneration packages of 
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from the Naspers board). Three members 

are independent, non-executive board 

members and one is a non-executive 

director.

The committee met twice during the 

financial year. Details of attendance at 

meetings by members of this committee 

appear on page 37. The main 

responsibilities of this committee are to:

  approve the framework, policies and 

guidelines for safety, health and 

environmental management

  review and monitor implementation 

of the group’s safety, health and 

environmental policies

  monitor key indicators on accidents and 

incidents

  review compliance by the company 

with policies, guidelines and appropriate 

local and international standards and 

relevant local laws on safety, health and 

environmental matters, and

  review annual reporting on safety, 

health and environmental matters.

Discharge of responsibilities

The board has determined that all 

subcommittees discharged their 

meetings by invitation. This committee 

met five times during the financial year. 

Details of attendance at meetings by 

members of this subcommittee appear on 

page 37. The main responsibilities of the 

nomination committee are to:

  annually review the effectiveness of the 

corporate governance guidelines and 

charter of the board

  make recommendations to the board 

on the structure, size and composition 

of the board

  evaluate the performance of the board, 

its subcommittees, directors and the chair

  make recommendations to the board 

on the appointment of new directors, 

and

  annually review the general level of 

remuneration for directors, as well as 

board committees.

Safety, health and environmental 

committee

This committee is chaired by  

Ms G M Landman. The committee 

comprises four members (two from the 

combined boards of Media24 Holdings 

and Media24 and the other two members 
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business plan. These are assessed by the 

board annually. The audit and risk 

management committee also reviews the 

risk management process. Going forward, 

the new risk committee will be responsible 

for reviewing this process.

At present the following major risks are 

evident, among a wide range of potential 

exposures:

Political and market developments

The Media24 Holdings group is sensitive to 

global and domestic political and other 

events that may influence the global and 

domestic economy.

Competition and technical innovations

The group operates in a competitive and 

ever-changing market. Technology and 

innovation form an integral part of its 

operations. Several print products may be 

diminished by internet rivals. The group 

devotes significant resources to analyse 

emerging trends in technology and 

consumer demand, and to the 

development of new products and 

services.

responsibilities for the year under review in 

compliance with their terms of reference. 

The company secretary

The company secretary is responsible for 

providing the board with guidance on 

discharging its responsibilities in terms of 

legislation and regulatory requirements. 

Directors have unlimited access to the 

advice and services of the company 

secretary. The company secretary plays an 

active role in the company’s corporate 

governance, and ensures that, in 

accordance with pertinent laws, the 

proceedings and affairs of the board, the 

company itself and, where appropriate, 

shareholders are properly administered. 

She is also the company’s compliance 

officer as defined in the Companies Act, 

No 61 of 1973, and delegated information 

officer. The company secretary monitors 

directors’ dealings in securities and ensures 

adherence to closed periods for trading in 

shares of the ultimate holding company, 

Naspers. 

Risk management

The identification and management of 

risks form part of each business unit’s 



Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited   

Page 31

Damage or malfunction or fires in the 

printing environment could disrupt 

circulation of print media and decrease 

revenue.

Communication networks

The group uses advanced technologies in 

its production and distribution processes 

that depend on the continuous supply of 

fixed and mobile communication 

networks. 

Internal control systems

The company has a system of internal 

controls, based on the group’s policies and 

guidelines, in all material subsidiaries and 

joint ventures under its control. A risk 

manager and the internal auditors monitor 

the functioning of internal control systems 

and make recommendations to 

management and to the audit and risk 

management committee.

The external auditor considers elements of 

the internal control systems as part of the 

audit and communicates deficiencies 

when identified. All control systems do, 

however, have shortcomings, including 

the possibility of human error and evasion 

Some of these projects may not deliver 

the expected results, due to judgement 

errors or unforeseen changes in the 

industry, economy or political 

environment.

Currency fluctuations

The group reports in South African rand, 

and this exchange rate may vary relative to 

other currencies. Movements in the value 

of currencies could have a negative or 

positive impact on our operating expenses 

and cash flow as significant volumes of 

paper and technical equipment are 

imported. To manage this risk, the group 

applies a hedging policy, which is 

reviewed from time to time.

Electricity and technological failures

The production and distribution of the 

group’s products depend on constant and 

high-quality electricity supply. Given the 

issues facing the country, the group has 

taken measures to lessen the impact of 

power failures (such as installing generators 

and uninterrupted-power-supply facilities), 

but protracted power failures will have a 

negative impact on revenues and costs. 
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fieldwork is outsourced to a major audit 

firm on a three-year contract.

Relations with shareholders

The company’s website  

(www.media24.com) provides the 

latest and historical financial and other 

information, including financial reports. 

The board encourages shareholders to 

attend its annual general meeting, 

notice of which is contained in this annual 

report, where shareholders have the 

opportunity to put questions to the board, 

management and chairs of the various 

subcommittees.

Business ethics

In support of the requirements of King II, 

the company has formalised its business 

ethics management process within the 

group. This code applies to all directors 

and employees in the group. Ensuring that 

controlled group companies adopt 

appropriate processes and establish 

supporting policies and procedures is an 

ongoing process. Policies and procedures 

focus on key ethical risks such as 

managing conflicts of interests and 

accepting inappropriate gifts. The human 

resources committee acts as the overall 

or flouting of control measures. Even the 

best such system may provide only partial 

assurance. The group’s internal controls 

and systems are designed to provide 

reasonable, not absolute, assurance on the 

integrity and reliability of the financial 

statements; to safeguard, verify and 

maintain accountability of its assets; and to 

detect fraud, potential liability, loss and 

material misstatement, while complying 

with applicable laws and regulations. 

The group evaluated its internal control 

systems as at 31 March 2010 with regard 

to financial reporting and safeguarding 

assets against unauthorised purchases,  

use or sales. 

During the period under review, the 

system revealed no significant breakdown 

in internal control.

Internal audit

An internal audit function is in place 

throughout the group. This is an 

independent appraisal mechanism that 

examines and evaluates the group’s 

procedures and systems (including internal 

controls, disclosure procedures and 

information systems), ensuring that these 

are functioning effectively. Internal audit 



Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited   

Page 33

Remuneration is reviewed annually, with 

reference to competitors and similar 

companies to Media24 in South Africa. 

Independent advice is acquired to review 

directors’ remuneration. No additional 

remuneration is paid by Media24 Holdings. 

In remunerating executives, the group aims 

to attract entrepreneurs. Motivating and 

retaining competent leaders, and 

recognising top performance, reinforce our 

drive to create sustainable shareholder 

value by increasing the value of the group. 

The remuneration philosophy for executives 

strives to meet this objective. Accordingly, 

the focus of the policy is not primarily on 

guaranteed annual remuneration packages, 

but on individual incentive plans linked to 

creating shareholder value. 

Remuneration packages are monitored 

and compared with market forces. Most 

executives have an annual bonus scheme, 

requiring that strategic and operational 

objectives (including financial targets) 

relative to budget are surpassed. As 

long-term incentives, executives 

participate in the group’s share-based 

incentive schemes. These awards normally 

vest over a period of five years.

custodian of business ethics. Disciplinary 

codes and procedures are used to ensure 

compliance with the policies and practices 

that underpin the overall code of business 

ethics. Unethical behaviour by senior staff 

members is reported to the human 

resources committee, as is the manner in 

which the company’s disciplinary code 

was applied in such instances.

The group expects all directors and 

employees to share its commitment to 

business ethics and legal standards.

Remuneration philosophy

The remuneration philosophy and its 

execution is the responsibility of the 

human resources and nomination 

committees. Only non-executive directors 

of Media24, who are not employed by  

the company or the company’s ultimate 

parent, receive annual remuneration.  

As opposed to a fee per meeting, this 

recognises the ongoing responsibility  

of directors for the efficient control of  

the company. This remuneration is 

augmented by compensation for  

services on subcommittees of the board.  

A premium is payable to the chairs  

of the board and subcommittees.
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Directorate

Jakes Gerwel joined the Naspers group as a 

director in 1999. He was director-general in 

the office of former president Nelson 

Mandela, secretary to the cabinet and rector 

of the University of the Western Cape. He is 

chancellor of Rhodes University and the 

chairman of Brimstone Investment 

Corporation, Media24, Media24 Holdings and 

Welkom Yizani. He is a member of the 

executive, human resources and nomination 

committees of Media24, Media24 Holdings 

and Naspers. His qualifications include 

BAHons, LicGermPhil, DLit et Phil.

Francois Groepe holds the qualifications 

BComHons, MBA, LLB, a postgraduate 

diploma in law (taxation) and is a chartered 

management accountant. He was appointed 

chief executive officer of Media24 in July 

2008, after serving as financial director of 

Media24 and chief executive of the group’s 

newspaper publishing business unit. He is a 

director of Media24, Media24 Holdings, the 

South African Reserve Bank, Paarl Media 

Holdings, Media24 Africa, Media24 Nigeria 

and other group subsidiary companies.

Koos Bekker led the founding team of 

M-Net in 1985, serving as chief executive of 

the MIH group until 1997. He was also a 

founding director of MTN. He is a director  

of Media24, Media24 Holdings, MIH B.V.,  

MIH (Mauritius), MIH Holdings, MultiChoice 

South Africa Holdings and other companies 

in the wider group. He serves on the local 

organising committee for the 2010 Fifa 

Soccer World Cup and the council of 

Stellenbosch University. He has been chief 

executive of Naspers since 1997.

Russel Botman holds the qualifications BA, 

MTh and DTh. He has been president of the 

South African Council of Churches since 2004 

and was a member of the ministerial task 

group advising the minister of education on 

religious and educational matters. He is a 

director of Media24, Media24 Holdings, and 

chairperson of the Absa Klein Karoo National 

Arts Festival. Before he joined Stellenbosch 

University in 2000 as professor in missiology 

and practical theology, he was dean of the 

religion and theology faculty at the University 

of the Western Cape. He was appointed 

rector and vice-chancellor of Stellenbosch 

University in 2007.
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Salie de Swardt holds the qualifications 

BAHons and BEcon from Stellenbosch 

University and was a Nieman Fellow at 

Harvard University. During his career with the 

Naspers group, he served as financial reporter 

at Die Burger, financial editor and editor of 

Beeld. He was also the founding editor of 

Finansies & Tegniek (now Finweek), chief 

executive of Media24 magazines and 

managing director of Media24 from 2000 

until his retirement in 2005. He is a director 

and member of the executive committee of 

Media24 and Media24 Holdings, and a 

director of Paarl Media Holdings and the 

Aardklop-kunstefees.

Rachel Jafta obtained the degrees 

BEconHons, MEcon and PhD and is an 

associate professor in economics at 

Stellenbosch University. She joined the 

Naspers group as a director in 2003 and was 

appointed a director of Media24 and Media24 

Holdings in 2007. She is a member of the 

South African Economic Society and a director 

of Econex. She is chairperson of the Carnival 

Trust and board member of the South African 

Institute of Race Relations. She is also 

chairperson of the Rachel’s Angels 

empowerment project, a Media24 initiative in 

association with Stellenbosch University. She is 

a member of the audit and risk management 

committees of Naspers, Media24 and Media24 

Holdings. She was appointed chair of the 

Media24 and Media24 Holdings audit and risk 

management committee in April 2008.

Steve Pacak was reappointed to the board 

as director on 1 April 2009 after a three-

month sabbatical. Steve began his career 

with Naspers as group financial manager of 

M-Net in 1988 and held various executive 

positions in the MIH group. He is a director  

of Media24, Media24 Holdings, MIH B.V.,  

MIH (Mauritius), MIH Holdings, MultiChoice 

South Africa Holdings and other companies 

in the wider Naspers group. Steve was 

appointed an executive director of Naspers  

in 1998.

Lambert Retief obtained BComHons at 

Stellenbosch University, and then qualified as 

a CA(SA) and completed the Owner President 

Management (OPM) programme at Harvard 

Business School. He is a director of Media24 

and Media24 Holdings, chairperson and 

former chief executive of Paarl Media 

Holdings and director of other subsidiaries in 

the Paarl Media group. He is also a director of 

Naspers and the listed agricultural investment 

group Zeder Investments Limited. He has held 

various executive positions in the printing 

industry, including president of the Print 

Industry Federation of South Africa (PIFSA)  

and chair of the Provincial Press Union.
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Directorate (continued)

Boetie van Zyl holds the qualifications 

BScMech and PrEng. He joined the  

Naspers group as a director in 1988. He is  

a member of the boards of MIH Holdings,  

MIH (Mauritius), MIH B.V., Media24 and 

Media24 Holdings, and a director of the 

Peace Parks Foundation. He is chairperson  

of the Naspers audit and risk management 

committee, a member of the audit and risk 

management committees of Media24, 

Media24 Holdings and MIH, and a member  

of the human resources and nomination 

committees of Media24, Media24 Holdings 

and Naspers.

Ruda Landman obtained the qualifications 

BAHons and HED at Stellenbosch University. 

She was subsequently appointed as a 

journalist at Die Burger and later at SARie. She 

was a presenter of the M-Net programme 

Carte Blanche from 1988 to June 2007 and is a 

television freelancer. She chaired the board of 

trustees of Project Literacy for five years, and 

chaired the board of directors of Helpmekaar 

Private School from 2003 to 2007. She 

became a director of Media24 and Media24 

Holdings in 2005 and 2006, respectively, and 

currently chairs the safety, health and 

environmental committee.

Ton Vosloo became managing director of 

Naspers in 1984, serving as executive 

chairman from 1992 to 1997. His career as a 

journalist began in 1956, and he was editor of 

Beeld from 1977 to 1983. He is a director of 

Media24, Media24 Holdings and MultiChoice 

South Africa Holdings, chairman of  

MIH B.V., MIH (Mauritius) and MIH Holdings, 

and independent, non-executive chairman of 

the board of Naspers, a position he has held 

since 1997. He is a former chairman of 

Sanlam, M-Net, WWF (SA) and of the Cape 

Philharmonic Orchestra. He was awarded the 

Nieman Fellowship from Harvard University in 

1970. He has been awarded three honorary 

doctorates. 

Koos Pieterse was appointed chief financial 

officer of Media24 with effect from 1 February 

2010. He graduated from Rand Afrikaans 

University (now UJ) with BComHons and is a 

qualified chartered accountant. He is a former 

financial director of Ackermans and a director 

of Media24, Media24 Holdings, Via Afrika and 

Paarl Media Holdings.



Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited   

Page 37

Date appointed
in current position

Four board 
meetings held 

during the year.
Attendance: Category

J P Bekker 1 April 2008 4 Non-executive
H R Botman 14 September 2006 2 Independent, non-executive
S S de Swardt 14 September 2006 4 Independent, non-executive
G J Gerwel 14 September 2006 4 Independent, non-executive
F E Groepe 14 September 2006 4 Executive
R C C Jafta 9 February 2007 4 Independent, non-executive
G M Landman 14 September 2006 4 Independent, non-executive
S J Z Pacak 1 April 2009 3 Non-executive
T M F Phaswana¹ 9 February 2007 3 Independent, non-executive
L P Retief 14 September 2006 4 Non-executive
J J M van Zyl 14 September 2006 4 Independent, non-executive
T Vosloo 14 September 2006 4 Independent, non-executive
J J Pieterse2 1 May 2010 — Executive
Notes 
1. T M F Phaswana resigned as director on 30 November 2009. 
2. J J Pieterse was appointed as director with effect from 1 May 2010.

Executive
committee

Audit  
and risk 

management 
committee

Human 
resources 

committee
Nomination 
committee

Safety, 
health and
 environ- 
mental  

committee

No  
meetings 

 were held during 
the year.

Attendance:

Four 
 meetings 

 held during  
the year. 

Attendance:

Five  
meetings  

held during  
the year. 

Attendance:

Five 
 meetings 

 held during  
the year.

Attendance:

Two  
meetings 

 held during  
the year.

Attendance:

J P Bekker √ —
S S de Swardt √ —
G J Gerwel √ — √ 5 √ 5
F E Groepe √ —
R C C Jafta √ 4
L N Jonker √ 2
G M Landman √ 2
S J Z Pacak √ —
L P Retief √ 2
J J M van Zyl √ — √ 4 √ 5 √ 5
T Vosloo √ — √ 4 √ 5 √ 5
H S S Willemse √ 2

Directors and attendance at meetings

Committees and attendance at meetings
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Administration and corporate information

Joint attorneys

Werksmans incorporating Jan S de Villiers

18th Floor

1 Thibault Square

Cape Town

8001

(PO Box 1471, Cape Town 8000)

Independent auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers inc.

1 Waterhouse Place

Century City

Cape Town

7441

(PO Box 2799, Cape Town 8000)

Registration number

2006/021408/07

Registered office

40 Heerengracht

Cape Town

8001

(PO Box 2271, Cape Town 8000)

Company secretary

Lurica Klink

40 Heerengracht

Cape Town

8001

(PO Box 2271, Cape Town 8000)

Joint attorneys and tax advisers

Webber Wentzel

10 Fricker Road

Illovo Boulevard

Johannesburg

2196

(PO Box 61771, Marshalltown 2107)

Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

www.media24.com
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Abridged consolidated statements of financial position
on 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009

Abridged consolidated income statements
for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009

Group Company

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Revenue  6 729 601   7 019 602   —    —   
Expenses (5 858 414) (6 408 706) (841 938)  1  
Dividends received  —    —    165 000   165 000  

Operating profit/(loss)  871 187   610 896  (676 938)  165 001  
Finance costs – net (439 188) (241 266)  —    —   
Share of equity accounted results (2 931)  1 024   —    —   
Profit on sale of investments  25 967   35 933   —    —   

Profit/(loss) before taxation  455 035   406 587  (676 938)  165 001  
Taxation (316 127) (80 867) (1 370)  —   

Net profit/(loss) for the year  138 908   325 720  (678 308)  165 001  

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the group  104 867   273 095  (678 308)  165 001  
Minority interest  34 041   52 625   —    —   

 138 908   325 720  (678 308)  165 001  

Group Company

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets  3 089 827  3 047 661  4 163 609  4 866 667 
Current assets  2 196 777  2 272 524  —    —   

Total assets  5 286 604  5 320 185  4 163 609  4 866 667 

EQUITY
Total shareholders’ interest  565 713  752 524  4 023 359  4 866 667 
Minority interest  171 555  190 396  —    —   

Total equity  737 268  942 920  4 023 359  4 866 667 

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities  1 225 682  1 261 243  —  —   
Current liabilities  3 323 654  3 116 022 140 250    —   

Total equity and liabilities  5 286 604  5 320 185  4 163 609  4 866 667 
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Abridged consolidated statements of cash flow
for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009

Group Company

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Net cash from operating activities  516 335   318 018   23 380  24 751 
Net cash utilised in investing activities (69 253) (418 180)  —    —   
Net cash utilised in financing activities (207 941) (76 688) (23 380) (24 750) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents  239 141  (176 850) —  1 
Forex translation adjustments on cash 
and cash equivalents — (3 602) — —
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year (596 560) (416 108) — (1) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the year (357 419) (596 560) — —
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Abridged consolidated annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2010

PRINCIPLE ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The annual financial statements of the group 
and the company are presented in accordance 
with, and comply with, International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) interpretations issued and effective at the 
time of preparing these financial statements. 
The annual financial statements are prepared 
according to the historical cost convention as 
modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale 
financial assets and financial assets and liabilities 
(including derivative instruments) at fair value 
through profit or loss.

The preparation of the annual financial 
statements necessitates the use of estimates, 
assumptions and judgements. These estimates 
and assumptions affect the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at 
the balance sheet date as well as affecting the 
reported income and expenses for the year.

Although estimates are based on management’s 
best knowledge and judgement of current 
facts as at the balance sheet date, the actual 
outcome may differ from these estimates, 
possibly significantly. 

For a better understanding of the group and 
company’s financial position, the results of 
operations and cash flows for the period, the 
abridged financial statements should be read 
in conjunction with the full annual financial 
statements from which the abridged financial 
statements were derived.

Note
The full annual financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2010 are available on our website 
(www.media24.com) or should you wish to obtain 
a hard copy of these financial statements, they 
are available from the company secretary at our 
registered office.
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Welkom Yizani Investments Limited
Group annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2010
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attention of the directors to indicate that any 
material breakdown in the functioning of these 
controls, procedures and systems has occurred 
during the period under review.

The going-concern basis has been adopted in 
preparing the annual financial statements. The 
directors have no reason to believe that the 
group and company will not be going concerns 
in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts 
and available cash resources. These annual 
financial statements support the viability of the 
group and company.

The annual financial statements have  
been audited by the independent auditor, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., who was given 
unrestricted access to all financial records and 
related data, including minutes of all meetings of 
shareholders, the board of directors and 
committees of the board. The directors believe 
that all representations made to the independent 
auditor during his audit are valid and appropriate.

The audit report of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. is 
presented on page 45.

The annual financial statements were approved by 
the board of directors and are signed on its behalf 
by:

 
 
G J Gerwel

Chairman 

N Jansen 

Director

19 July 2010

The directors are responsible for the 
preparation, integrity and fair presentation of 
the annual financial statements and group 
annual financial statements of Welkom Yizani 
Investments Limited. The group’s financial 
statements presented on pages 46 to 61 have 
been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the 
manner required by the Companies Act of 
South Africa, and include amounts based on 
judgements and estimates made by 
management.

The directors consider that in preparing the 
annual financial statements, they have used the 
most appropriate accounting policies, 
consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable prudent judgements and estimates, 
and that all IFRS that they consider to be 
applicable, have been followed. The annual 
financial statements fairly present the results  
of operations for the year and the financial 
position of the group and company at year-end 
in accordance with IFRS.

The directors have the responsibility for 
ensuring that accounting records are kept. The 
accounting records should disclose, with 
reasonable accuracy, the financial position and 
results of the company to enable the directors 
to ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the relevant legislation.

The company operates in an established control 
environment, which is documented and 
regularly reviewed. This incorporates risk 
management and internal control procedures, 
which are designed to provide reasonable, but 
not absolute, assurance that assets are 
safeguarded and the risks facing the business 
are being controlled. Nothing has come to the 

Directors’ statement of responsibility
for the year ended 31 March 2010
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Certificate by the company secretary

I, Lurica Jineanne Klink, being the company 
secretary of Welkom Yizani Investments Limited, 
certify that the company has, for the period 
under review, lodged all returns required of  
a public company with the Registrar of 
Companies, and that all such returns are, to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, true, correct 
and up to date. 

L J Klink

Company secretary

19 July 2010
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TO THE MEMBERS OF WELKOM YIZANI 
INVESTMENTS LIMITED

We have audited the annual financial statements 
and the group annual financial statements of 
Welkom Yizani Investments Limited which 
comprise the directors’ report, the statements of 
financial position as at 31 March 2010, the 
statements of comprehensive income, the 
statements of changes in equity and the 
statements of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on 
pages 47 to 61.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The company’s directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner 
required by the Companies Act of South Africa. 
This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards of Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal controls relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness  
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness  
of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the company and the group as of 
31 March 2010, and their financial performance 
and their cash flows for the year then ended  
in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and in the manner 
required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Director: R Jacobs
Registered auditor

Paarl

19 July 2010

Report of the independent auditor
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As the company’s only asset is an investment in 
Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, the 
board deems it appropriate that all its members 
be appointed to the audit committee. The audit 
committee has pleasure in submitting this 
report, as required by sections 269A and 270A 
of the Companies Act (the act).

FUNCTIONS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has discharged the 
functions ascribed to it in terms of the act as 
follows:

  Reviewed the year-end financial statements, 
culminating in a recommendation to the 
board to adopt them. In the course of its 
review the committee:

–  took appropriate steps to ensure that the 
financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the 
manner required by the Companies Act  
of South Africa;

–  considered and, when appropriate, made 
recommendations on internal financial 
controls;

–  dealt with concerns or complaints relating 
to accounting policies, internal audit, the 
auditing or content of annual financial 
statements, and internal financial controls; 
and

–  reviewed legal matters that could have a 
significant impact on the organisation’s 
financial statements.

  Reviewed the external audit reports on the 
annual financial statements.

  Verified the independence of the external 
auditor, nominated PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Inc. as the auditor for 2010/2011 and noted 
the appointment of Mr R Jacobs as the 
designated auditor.

  Approved the audit fees and engagement 
terms of the external auditor.

  No non-audit services have been provided by 
the external auditor.

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee consists of the non-
executive directors of the company. All the 
members act independently as described in 
section 269A of the Companies Act.

ATTENDANCE

The external auditor, in his capacity as auditor 
to the company, attended and reported at the 
meeting of the board and audit committee.

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR

During the year under review the board and 
audit committee conducted its own review and 
confirmed the independence of the external 
auditor.

 
 
 
 
G J Gerwel

On behalf of the audit committee of the board

19 July 2010

Report of the audit committee
for the year ended 31 March 2010
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NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Welkom Yizani Investments Limited was 
incorporated on 10 July 2006 under the laws  
of the Republic of South Africa. The principal 
activities of Welkom Yizani Investments Limited 
are to:

a)  carry on the main business of holding only 
Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited 
ordinary shares, cash and such assets as are 
received and acquired solely by virtue of,  
or in relation to the holding of Media24 
Holdings (Proprietary) Limited ordinary 
shares; and

b)  receive and distribute dividends and other 
distributions in terms of its holding in 
Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The financial results of the group and company 
are set out on pages 48 to 61.

SHARE CAPITAL

Refer to note 6 for details of the authorised and 
issued share capital.

DIVIDENDS

The board recommends that dividends of 
28,9 cents per ordinary share and 28,9 cents per 
preference share be declared (2009: 33,9 cents 
per ordinary share and 33,9 cents per 
preference share).

DIRECTORS, COMPANY SECRETARY AND 
AUDITOR

The directors of the company are listed below 
and the company secretary is Lurica Jineanne 
Klink. The registered address and postal address 
for the company secretary are the same as 
those of the company as detailed on page 63.

Name Date 
appointed

Category

G J Gerwel 4 August 2006 Independent, 
non-executive

N Jansen 23 March 2007 Independent, 
non-executive

P O Goldhawk 22 June 2007 Independent, 
non-executive

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. was appointed  
in office as auditor in accordance with section 
270(2) of the South African Companies 
Act, 1973.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO STATEMENT  
OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE

No events have occurred subsequent to 
31 March 2010 that have required the company 
to disclose or adjust the results as presented in 
these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the board

 
 

G J Gerwel

Chairman

19 July 2010

Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 March 2010
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Statements of financial position
as at 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009

 Group  Company 

Notes
2010

R’000
 2009
R’000 

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000 

ASSETS
Non-current assets  503 050  678 676  603 709  730 000 

Investment in associate 3  503 050  678 676  603 709  730 000 

Current assets 4 463  4 538 4 463  4 538 

Other receivables 5  199  755  199  755 
Cash and cash equivalents 4 264  3 783  4 264  3 783 

TOTAL ASSETS 507 513  683 214 608 172  734 538 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves 112 303  (13 812)  212 962  37 512 

Share capital and premium 6 146 022  146 000  146 022  146 000 
Other reserves  (36 618)  (17 616)  —  —
Accumulated profit/(loss)  2 899  (142 195)  66 940  (108 488)

Non-current liabilities  373 000  584 000  373 000  584 000 

Long-term liabilities 7  373 000  584 000  373 000  584 000 

Current liabilities 22 210  113 026 22 210  113 026 

Current portion of long-term 
liabilities 7  19 680  110 358  19 680  110 358 
Payables 8 1 166  1 781 1 166  1 781 
Dividends payable  1 341  855  1 341  855 
Taxation  23  32  23  32 

TOTAL EQUITY AND 
LIABILITIES  507 513  683 214  608 172  734 538 
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Statements of comprehensive income
for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009

 Group  Company 

Notes
2010

R’000
 2009
R’000 

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000 

Share of net (loss)/profit  
of associate  (5 585)  19 649  —  —
Investment income –
dividends received  —  —  24 750  24 750 
Administration costs 9  (90)  (90)  (90)  (90)
Finance costs – net 10  (46 688)  (71 438)  (46 688)  (71 438)
Share premium adjustment 7 210 979 — 210 979 —
Current and arrear dividends 
written off 7 117 716 — 117 716 —
Impairment of equity 
investment  (126 291)  —  (126 291)  —

Profit/(loss) before taxation 150 042  (51 878) 180 376  (46 778)
Taxation 11 —  (16)  —  (16)

Net profit/(loss) for the year 150 042  (51 894) 180 376  (46 794)

Net profit/(loss) for the year 150 042  (51 894) 180 376  (46 794)
Share of changes in associate’s 
other equity items  (19 002)  (24 150)  —  —

Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year 131 040  (76 044) 180 376  (46 794)
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Statements of changes in equity
for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009

 Share 
capital and 

premium
R’000 

 Other
 reserves 

 R’000 

 Accumulated
 loss

R’000 
 Total
R’000

COMPANY
Balance at 1 April 2008  146 000 —  (56 745)  89 255 
Total comprehensive income — —  (46 794)  (46 794)
Dividends paid — —  (4 949)  (4 949)

Balance at 31 March 2009  146 000 —  (108 488)  37 512 

Balance at 1 April 2009  146 000 —  (108 488)  37 512 
Additional shares issued  22 — —  22 
Total comprehensive income — — 180 376 180 376
Dividends paid —  —  (4 948)  (4 948)

Balance at 31 March 2010  146 022 —  66 940  212 962 

GROUP
Balance at 1 April 2008  146 000  6 534  (85 352)  67 182 
Total comprehensive income —  (24 150)  (51 894)  (76 044)
Dividends paid — —  (4 949)  (4 949)

Balance at 31 March 2009  146 000  (17 616)  (142 195)  (13 811)

Balance at 1 April 2009  146 000  (17 616)  (142 195)  (13 811)
Additional shares issued  22 — —  22 
Total comprehensive income —  (19 002) 150 042 131 040
Dividends paid — —  (4 948)  (4 948)

Balance at 31 March 2010  146 022  (36 618)  2 899  112 303 
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 Group  Company 

Note
2010

R’000
 2009
R’000 

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000 

Cash flow from operating 
activities  24 875  28 118  24 875  28 118 

Cash generated from operations 12  (15)  3 292  (15)  3 292 
Interest paid  (109)  (193)  (109)  (193)
Interest received  258  269  258  269 
Dividends received  24 750  24 750  24 750  24 750 
Taxation paid  (9) —  (9) — 

Cash flow from financing 
activities  (24 394)  (24 719)  (24 394)  (24 719)

Dividends paid  (4 463)  (4 537)  (4 463)  (4 537)
Preference dividends paid  (19 798)  (19 798)  (19 798)  (19 798)
Repayments made to 
unsuccessful applicants  (134)  (384)  (134)  (384)
Proceeds from ordinary  
shares issued  22 —  22 — 
Redemption of preference shares (21) — (21) —

Change in cash and cash 
equivalents for the year  481  3 399  481  3 399 
Cash and cash equivalents at 
the beginning of the year  3 783  384  3 783  384 

Cash and cash equivalents  
at the end of the year  4 264  3 783  4 264  3 783 

Statements of cash flows
for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009
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Notes to the annual financial statements

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The annual financial statements are 
presented in accordance with, and comply 
with, International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) interpretations issued 
and effective at the time of preparing these 
financial statements. The financial 
statements are prepared according to the 
historic cost convention.

The preparation of the financial statements 
in conformity with IFRS requires the use  
of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise 
judgement in the process of applying the 
group’s accounting policies. These 
estimates and assumptions affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities at the statement of 
financial position date as well as the 
reported income and expenses for the year. 
Although estimates are based on 
management’s best knowledge and 
judgement of current facts as at the 
statement of financial position date, the 
actual outcome may significantly differ 
from these estimates.

Refer to note 2 as well as the individual 
notes for details of estimates, assumptions 
and judgements used.

1.1 Investment in associate
  Investments in associated companies 

are accounted for under the equity 
method. Associated companies are 
those companies in which the group 
generally has between 20% and 50% 
of the voting rights, or over which the 
group exercises significant influence, 
but which it does not control. The 
group’s investment in associates 

includes goodwill and other 
intangible assets identified on 
acquisition, net of any accumulated 
amortisation and impairment loss.

  Equity accounting involves 
recognising in the income statement 
the group’s share of the associate’s 
post-acquisition results net of taxation 
and minority interests in the associate. 
The group’s share of post-acquisition 
movements in other reserves is 
accounted for in the other reserves of 
the group. The group’s interest in the 
associate is carried on the statement 
of financial position at cost, adjusted 
for the group’s share of the change in 
post-acquisition net assets, and 
inclusive of goodwill and other 
identifiable intangible assets 
recognised on acquisitions. Where the 
group’s share of losses in the associate 
equals or exceeds the carrying 
amount of its investment, the carrying 
amount of the investment as well as 
any loans to the associate are reduced 
to nil and no further losses are 
recognised, unless the group has 
incurred obligations to the associate 
or the group has guaranteed or 
committed to satisfy obligations of 
the associate.

  Unrealised gains and losses on 
transactions between the group and 
its associates are eliminated to the 
extent of the group’s interest in the 
associates, unless the loss provides 
evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred.

  Accounting policies of associates have 
been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency of the policies 
adopted by the group.
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  Goodwill represents the excess of the 
cost of an acquisition over the fair 
value of the group’s share of the net 
identifiable assets of the acquired 
associate at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill on acquisitions of associates 
is included in ‘investments in 
associates’ and is tested for 
impairment as part of the overall 
balance on an annual basis and when 
events and circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Gains and losses on the 
disposal of an entity include the 
carrying amount of goodwill relating 
to the entity sold.

  An impairment loss is recognised in 
the income statement when the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher  
of the amount obtainable from the 
sale of an asset in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable 
willing parties, or its value in use. 
Value in use is the present value of 
estimated future cash flows expected 
to arise from the continuing use of an 
asset and from its disposal at the end 
of its useful life. The estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the 
asset. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at  
the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows.

 

1.2 Financial assets
  The classification of financial assets 

depends on the purpose for which 
the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at 
initial recognition. Available-for-sale 
financial assets are non-derivatives 
that are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any other 
category. They are included in 
non-current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of 
the investment within 12 months of 
the statement of financial position 
date. During the year and at 31 March 
2010 the group and company had no 
available-for-sale financial assets.

1.3 Other receivables
  Other receivables are originally carried 

at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less 
provision made for impairment of 
these receivables.

1.4 Cash and cash equivalents
  Cash and cash equivalents are carried 

in the statement of financial position 
at cost. Cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash on hand and deposits 
held at call with banks.

1.5 Current and deferred income tax
  The current income tax charge is 

calculated on the basis of the tax laws 
enacted or substantively enacted at 
the statement of financial position 
date. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations 
where the applicable tax regulations 
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are subject to interpretation and 
establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts 
expected to be paid to tax authorities. 

  The normal South African company 
tax rate used at the statement of 
financial position date is 28% 
(2009: 28%). 

  Deferred income tax is provided in full 
in the statement of financial position, 
using the liability method, on all 
temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the financial statements.

1.6  Financial liabilities and equity 
instruments

 Classification as debt or equity
  Debt and equity instruments are 

classified either as financial liabilities 
or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual 
arrangement.

 Equity instruments
  An equity instrument is any contract 

that evidences a residual interest in 
the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments 
are recorded at the proceeds received, 
net of direct issue costs.

 Compound instruments
  The component parts of compound 

instruments are classified separately as 
financial liabilities and equity in 
accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. At the date 
of issue, the fair value of the liability 
component is estimated using the 

prevailing market interest rate for a 
similar non-convertible instrument. 
This amount is recorded as a liability 
on an amortised cost basis until 
extinguished upon conversion or at 
the instrument’s maturity date. The 
equity component is determined by 
deducting the amount of the liability 
component from the fair value of the 
compound instrument as a whole. 
This is recognised and included in 
equity, net of income tax effects, and 
is not substantially remeasured.

1.7 Revenue recognition
  Dividend income is recognised when 

the right to receive payment is 
established.

1.8 Borrowing costs
  Borrowing costs are recognised in 

profit or loss in the period in which 
they are incurred.

1.9 Interest income
  Interest is accrued on a time-

proportion basis, recognising the 
effective yield on the underlying 
assets.

1.10 Dividend distributions
  Dividend distributions to the 

company’s shareholders are 
recognised as a liability in the 
company financial statements in the 
period in which the dividends are 
approved by the company’s 
shareholders.

1.11 New standards and interpretations
  The group and company has not early 

adopted any new standards or 
interpretations.
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  New standards or interpretations 
currently issued but not yet effective 
are not expected to have an impact 
on the group and company.

  Standards, amendments and 
interpretations effective in 2010 but 
not relevant
  IFRIC 12 “Service Concession 

Arrangements” (effective from 
1 January 2008).

  IFRIC 14 “iAS 19 The Limit on a Defined 
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
Requirements and their interaction” 
(effective from 1 January 2008).

Standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards 
that are not yet effective and have not 
been early adopted by the group
  IFRS 1 and IAS 27 (amendment) 

“First time Adoption of iFRS 1” and 
IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements: Cost of an 
investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly 
Controlled entity or Associate” (effective 
from 1 January 2009).

  IFRS 2 (amendment) “Share-based 
Payment: Vesting Conditions and 
Cancellations” (effective from 
1 January 2009).

  IFRS 7 (amendment), “improving 
Disclosures about Financial 
instruments” (effective from 
1 January 2009).

  IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” 
(effective from 1 January 2009).

  IAS 1 (revised) “Presentation of 
Financial Statements” (effective from 
1 January 2009).

  IAS 23 (revised) “Borrowing Costs” 
(effective from 1 January 2009).

  IAS 32 and IAS 1 (amendment) 
“Financial instruments: Presentation” 
and IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements – Puttable Financial 
instruments and Obligations arising on 
Liquidation” (effective from 1 January 
2009).

  IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 (amendment) 
“Reassessment of embedded 
Derivatives” and IAS 39 “Financial 
instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement” (effective from 1 July 
2008).

  IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty 
Programmes” (effective from 1 July 
2008).

  IFRIC 15 “Agreements for the 
Construction of Real estate” (effective 
from 1 January 2009).

  IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net investment 
in a Foreign Operation” (effective 
from 1 October 2008).

  AC 503 (revised) “Accounting for 
Black economic empowerment (Bee) 
Transactions” (effective from 
1 January 2009).

  AC 504 “iAS 19 (AC116) The Limit on 
a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum 
Funding Requirements and their 
interaction in the South African 
Pension Fund environment” (effective 
from 1 April 2009).

  IFRS 2008 (improvements) (effective 
from 1 January 2009).
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 Interpretations to existing standards 
that are not yet effective and not 
relevant for the group’s operations
  IFRS 1 (amendment) “First time 

adoption of iFRS 1(AC 138)” (effective 
from 1 January 2010).

  IFRS 2 (amendment) “Share-based 
Payment – Group Cash-settled 
Share-based Payment Transactions” 
(effective from 1 January 2010).

  IFRS 3 (revised) “Business 
Combinations” (effective from 
1 July 2009).

  IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” 
(effective from 1 January 2013).

  IAS 24 (amendment) “Related Party 
Disclosures” (effective from 
1 January 2011).

  IAS 27 (revised) “Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements” 
(effective from 1 July 2009).

  IAS 28 (amendment) “investments in 
associates” and consequential 
amendments to IAS 32 “Financial 
instruments: Presentation” and IFRS 7 
“Financial instruments: Disclosures” 
(effective from 1 January 2009).

  IAS 32 (amendment) “Puttable 
Financial instruments and 
Obligations Arising on Liquidation” 
(effective from 1 January 2009).

  IAS 39 (amendment) “Financial 
instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement exposures Qualifying 
for Hedge Accounting” (effective 
from 1 July 2009).

  IFRIC 14 “Prepayments of a Minimum 
Funding Requirement” (effective 
from 1 January 2011).

  IFRIC 17 “Distributions of Non-Cash 
Assets to Owners” (effective from 
1 July 2009).

  IFRIC 18 “Transfers of Assets from 
Customers” (effective from 1 July 
2009).

  IFRIC 19 “extinguishing Financial 
Liabilities with equity instruments” 
(effective from 1 July 2010).

  IFRS 2008 (improvements) (effective 
from 1 July 2009).

  IFRS 2009 (improvements) (effective 
from 1 July 2009 and 1 January 
2010).

  IFRS 2010 (improvements not yet 
approved by the APB) (effective 
from 1 July 2010 and 1 January 
2011).
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances.

The group applies judgement when assessing the impairment of goodwill included in its 
investment in associate carry amount (refer to note 1.1).

3. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
The company has a 15% interest in Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, a company 
incorporated in South Africa.  This is an unlisted investment.

This investment is classified as an investment in associate, as significant influence was 
established through board representation even though the group has a 15% interest.

 Group Company 

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000 

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000 

Movement in carrying amount
Opening balance  678 676  707 927 730 000 730 000
Impairment of equity investment  (126 291)  —  (126 291)  — 
Share of net (loss)/profit  (5 583)  19 649 — —
Share of changes in other reserves  (19 002)  (24 150) — —
Dividends received  (24 750)  (24 750) — —

 503 050  678 676 603 709 730 000

The company recognised impairment losses on its investment in associate of R126m (2009: Rnil) 
during the financial year ended 31 March 2010. The impairment charges have been included in 
the statement of comprehensive income. The recoverable amounts have been based on 
value-in-use calculations with respect to the cash flows of the underlying investment. 

Impairment testing of goodwill
The company based its cash flow calculations on three to five year budgeted and forecast 
information approved by senior management and boards of directors of Media24 Holdings 
(Proprietary) Limited. Long-term average growth rates for the respective countries in which  
the entity operates were used to extrapolate the cash flows into the future.

The investment in associate includes goodwill of R98m (2009: R224m).

Summarised financial information of unlisted associate as per its  
annual financial statements
Total assets  5 286 604  5 320 185 
Total liabilities  4 549 336  4 377 265 
Revenue  6 729 601  7 019 602 
Net profit  138 908  325 720 
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4. RELATED PARTIES
The directors hold in aggregate 430 (2009: 430) ordinary shares in the company. 
No directors’ fees or remuneration has been paid to the directors of the company.
Included in other receivables is an amount of R176 967 (2009: R195 273) due from  
Media24 Limited.

 Group  Company 

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

5. OTHER RECEIVABLES
Other receivables 199  755  199  755 

199  755  199  755 

6. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
Authorised
30 000 000 ordinary shares of 
R0,0000001 each  —  —  —  — 
Issued (and fully paid up)
14 600 001 (2009: 14 600 000) 
ordinary shares of R0,0000001 each  —  —  —  — 
Share premium  146 022  146 000  146 022  146 000 

 146 022  146 000  146 022  146 000 

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue  
as a going-concern, so that it can continue to provide adequate returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders.



Welkom Yizani Investments Limited

Page 59

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

 Group  Company 

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

7. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

37 300 000 (2009: 58 400 000) 
variable rate, cumulative  
redeemable preference shares  
of R0,001 each  37  58  37  58 

– Opening balance 58 58 58 58
– Redemption (21) — (21) —

Share premium  372 963  583 942  372 963  583 942 

– Opening balance 583 942 583 942 583 942 583 942
– Redemption (210 979) — (210 979) —

 373 000  584 000  373 000  584 000 

Current portion of long-term 
liabilities (accrued preference  
share dividends)  19 680  110 358  19 680  110 358 

– Opening balance 110 358 58 642 110 358 58 642
– Dividends written off (117 716) — (117 716) —
– Current year dividends 46 836 71 514 46 836 71 514
– Dividends paid (19 798) (19 798) (19 798) (19 798)

 392 680  694 358  392 680  694 358 

A total of 21 100 000 (2009: nil) preference shares were redeemed during the year for a value of 
R21 100 (2009: Rnil). As a result of the redemption of preference shares an adjustment 
amounting to R211m (2009: Rnil) was made to the share premium account. 
Preference shares bear interest at 65% (2009: 75%) of the prime rate.  There are no fixed terms of 
payment of interest.  Interest payments will be made upon approval by the directors. The 
preference shares are held by Naspers Limited.

These preference shares are redeemable on any of the following preference redemption dates:
    compulsorily after ten years or such extended period as permitted by the preference 

shareholders, or
  after a trigger event as defined in the preference shareholders’ agreement at the option of the 

preference shareholders, or
  voluntarily by Welkom Yizani Investments Limited within three years out of sufficient cash 

resources, or
  compulsorily after three years out of sufficient cash resources.
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 Group  Company 

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000 

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000 

8. PAYABLES
Refunds due to unsuccessful share 
applicants 644  1 330  644  1 330 
Interest on refunds due to 
unsuccessful share applicants  432  362  432  362 
Audit fees accrued  90  90  90  90 

 1 166  1 782  1 166  1 782 

9. ADMINISTRATION COSTS
Auditor’s remuneration
Audit fees  90  90  90  90 

10. FINANCE COSTS – NET
Interest paid
Interest on refunds to unsuccessful 
share applicants  (109)  (170)  (109)  (170)
Interest on preference shares  (46 837)  (71 513)  (46 837)  (71 513)
Sundry interest  —  (23)  —  (23)

 (46 946)  (71 707)  (46 946)  (71 707)

Interest received
Interest on current accounts  12  87  12  87 
Interest on call accounts  246  182  246  182 

 258  269  258  269 

Net finance costs  (46 688)  (71 438)  (46 688)  (71 438)

11. TAXATION
South African normal taxation  —  16  —  16 

Current year  —  —  —  — 
Prior year  —  16  —  16 

Tax rate reconciliation
Statutory tax rate 28,0% 28,0% 28,0% 28,0%
Non-taxable income 0,0% 0,0% 9,2% 14,8%
Non-deductible expenditure (28,0%) (28,0%) (37,2%) (42,8%)

Effective tax rate 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%
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 Group  Company

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000 

2010
R’000

 2009
R’000 

12. CASH GENERATED FROM  
OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) before taxation 150 042  (51 878) 180 376  (46 778)
Adjusted for:
– Dividends received  —  —  (24 750)  (24 750)
–  Share of net profit/(loss) of 

associate  5 585  (19 650)  —  — 
– Share premium adjustment (210 979) — (210 979) —
–  Current and arrear dividends 

written off (117 716) — (117 716) —
– Impairment losses  126 291  —  126 291  — 
– Finance costs  46 688  71 438  46 688  71 438 

Loss before changes in working 
capital  (90)  (90)  (90)  (90)
Changes in working capital  75  3 382  75  3 382 

Other payables  (481)  97  (481)  97 
Other receivables  556  3 285  556  3 285 

 (15) 3 292  (15) 3 292

13. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, specifically interest rate risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the 
board of directors.

The group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its long-term borrowings issued at a variable 
interest rate. Based on simulations performed, the impact on profit or loss of a 100 basis-point 
increase in the prime interest rate would be a decrease or increase of R2,4m (2009: R4,6m), 
respectively.
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Jakes Gerwel joined the Naspers group as a director in 1999. 
He was director-general in the office of former president Nelson 
Mandela, secretary to the cabinet and rector of the University of 
the Western Cape. He is chancellor of Rhodes University and the 
chairman of Brimstone Investment Corporation, Media24, Media24 
Holdings and Welkom Yizani. He is a member of the executive and 
human resources and nomination committees of Media24, 
Media24 Holdings and Naspers. His qualifications include BAHons, 
LicGermPhil and DLit et Phil.

Peter Goldhawk is a chartered accountant and a retired partner 
of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. (PwC). Prior to his retirement in 
April 2004 he was the leader of the corporate finance valuation 
division of PwC, having previously established the corporate 
finance and the forensic accounting divisions of the predecessor 
firm, Coopers & Lybrand. He is now a director of Goldhawk 
Corporate Advisory. He was responsible for the development and 
management of the Phuthuma and Phuthuma Futhi BEE schemes 
implemented in Electronic Media Network (M-Net) and 
SuperSport International Holdings (SuperSport) in the late 1990s 
and was integrally involved in the implementation of Phuthuma 
Nathi and Welkom Yizani. He is a member of the South African 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, the JSE Listings Advisory 
Committee and an alternate director of the Directorate of Market 
Abuse of the Financial Services Board.

Neil Jansen is a former general manager: human resources of 
Media24 Limited. He holds various qualifications including a 
master’s degree in business leadership (MBL) from the Unisa 
Graduate School of Business Leadership and completed a media 
leadership programme in technology at the Graduate Institute of 
Management. He is registered as a master human resources 
practitioner and mentor with the SA Board of Personnel Practice. 
He was the project manager for Welkom Yizani (which owns 15% 
of Media24 Holdings) and has been a non-executive director of 
Welkom Yizani since 2006. He was the founding executive trustee 
of both the Media24 Rachel’s Angels Trust and MultiChoice 
Inkwenkwezi Trust. He currently holds the position of Human 
Resources director of Lewis Stores (Proprietary) Limited.
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Administration and corporate information

Independent auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers inc.

1 Waterhouse Place
Century City
Cape Town
8000
(PO Box 2799, Cape Town 8000)

Transfer secretaries
Link Market Services South Africa  

(Proprietary) Limited

(Registration number 2000/007239/07)
11 Diagonal Street
Johannesburg
2001
(PO Box 4844, Johannesburg 2000)

Registration number
2006/021434/06 

Registered office
40 Heerengracht
Cape Town
8001
(PO Box 2271, Cape Town 8000)

Company secretary
Lurica Klink

40 Heerengracht
Cape Town
8001
(PO Box 2271, Cape Town 8000)

Welkom Yizani Investments Limited

Call centre 0860 116 226

www.welkomyizani.com
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Notice is hereby given that the fourth annual 

general meeting of Media24 Holdings 

(Proprietary) Limited (“the company”) will 

be held at the Fountains Hotel, 1 St Georges 

Mall, Cape Town, on Wednesday 

22 September 2010 at 09:00. 

Please note that the registration counter 

for purposes of registration to vote at this 

meeting will close at 08:45 on Wednesday 

22 September 2010.

The following resolutions will be considered 

at the annual general meeting and, if 

approved, will be adopted with or without 

amendment:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1.  The consideration and acceptance of the 

financial statements of the company and 

the group for the 12 months ended 

31 March 2010 as well as the reports  

of the directors and the auditor.

2.  The declaration of a dividend of R100m in 

the issued share capital of the company.

3.  The reappointment of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as 

independent, registered auditor of the 

company (noting that Mr H Zeelie is the 

individual registered auditor of that firm 

who will undertake the audit) for the 

period until the next annual general 

meeting of the company.

4.   To confirm the appointment of 

Mr J J Pieterse as a director of the 

company. Short biographical details of  

Mr Pieterse appear on page 36 of this 

annual report.

5.  To elect Prof R C C Jafta, Ms G M Landman 

and Messrs T Vosloo and J P Bekker who 

retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer 

themselves for re-election as directors. 

Their short biographical details appear in 

the directorate on pages 34 to 36 of this 

annual report. The re-election of each 

director will be carried out in separate 

ordinary resolutions.

6.  To place the authorised but unissued 

share capital of the company under the 

control of the directors, and to grant, until 

the conclusion of the next annual general 

meeting of the company, an 

unconditional general authority to the 

directors to allot and issue in their 

discretion [but subject to the provisions of 

section 221 of the Companies Act, No 61 

of 1973, as amended (“the act”) and the 
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company’s articles of association], the 

unissued shares of the company to such 

persons and on such terms and 

conditions as the directors may deem fit. 

The following special resolution will be 

considered at the annual general meeting 

and, if approved, will be adopted with or 

without amendment:

SPECIAL RESOLUTION

Authority to repurchase shares

That the directors of the company be and are 

hereby authorised, by way of a renewable 

general authority, to approve the acquisition 

by the company of its own shares or to 

approve the acquisition of shares in the 

company by any subsidiary of the company, 

provided that:

(i)  this general authority shall be valid until 

the company’s next annual general 

meeting or for fifteen (15) months from 

the date of this resolution, whichever 

period is shorter; and

(ii)  such acquisition shall be subject to the act, 

and the company’s articles of association.

The reason for and the effect of the special 

resolution is to grant the directors of the 

company a general authority to approve the 

acquisition by the company of its own shares 

and to permit a subsidiary of the company to 

acquire shares in the company.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION

7.  Each of the directors of the company is 

hereby authorised to perform all such 

acts and sign all such documentation as 

may be necessary to effect the 

implementation of the ordinary and 

special resolutions adopted at this annual 

general meeting.

OTHER BUSINESS

To transact any other business that may be 

transacted at an annual general meeting.

GENERAL

Subject to the proxies given by Welkom 

Yizani Investments Limited (“Welkom Yizani”) 

to its members to vote at the annual general 

meeting of the company in their stead, the 

ordinary shareholders of the company are 

entitled to attend, speak and vote at the 

annual general meeting (with each ordinary 

share in the company giving its holder one 

vote).
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irrevocably appointed as a proxy for Welkom 

Yizani and is entitled, at the annual general 

meeting of the company, to exercise one 

vote for each share that the relevant member 

holds in Welkom Yizani. Welkom Yizani has 

completed a proxy form in respect of each 

member so entitled to vote at the annual 

general meeting pursuant to the 

aforementioned article.

By order of the board of directors

 

 

L J Klink

Company secretary

Cape Town

30 August 2010

Votes at the annual general meeting will be 

taken by way of a poll and not on a show of 

hands. Each ordinary shareholder present or 

represented by proxy will be entitled to that 

number of votes equal to the number of 

ordinary shares held by such ordinary 

shareholder or his/her proxies. 

Proxy forms must be deposited at the 

transfer secretaries of the company, Link 

Market Services South Africa (Proprietary) 

Limited, 11 Diagonal Street, Johannesburg 

2001, or PO Box 4844, Johannesburg 2000, 

not less than forty-eight (48) hours 

(Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays not 

taken into consideration) before the annual 

general meeting.

Pursuant to the provisions of article 15.1 of 

the articles of association of the company, 

each member of Welkom Yizani has been 
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Notice is hereby given that the fourth annual 

general meeting of Welkom Yizani 

Investments Limited (“the company”) will 

be held at the Fountains Hotel, 1 St Georges 

Mall, Cape Town, on Wednesday 

22 September 2010 immediately after the 

conclusion of the annual general meeting of 

Media24 Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, 

which is scheduled to be held at 09:00 on 

that day. 

Please note that the registration counter 

for purposes of registration to vote at this 

meeting will close at 08:45 on Wednesday 

22 September 2010.

The following ordinary resolutions will be 

considered at the annual general meeting 

and, if approved, will be adopted with or 

without amendment:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1.  The consideration and acceptance of the 

financial statements of the company for 

the 12 months ended 31 March 2010, as 

well as the reports of the directors and  

the auditor.

2.  The declaration of a dividend of 28,9 cents 

per share in relation to the ordinary shares 

and the preference shares in the issued 

share capital of the company.

3.  The reappointment of the firm 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as 

independent, registered auditor of the 

company (noting that Mr R Jacobs is the 

individual registered auditor of that firm 

who will undertake the audit) for the 

period until the next annual general 

meeting of the company.

4.   To consider for re-election Prof G J Gerwel 

who retires and, being eligible, offers 

himself for re-election. Short biographical 

details of Prof G J Gerwel appear on  

page 62 of this annual report.

5.  To place the authorised but unissued 

share capital of the company under the 

control of the directors and to grant, until 

the conclusion of the next annual general 

meeting of the company, an 

unconditional general authority to the 

directors to allot and issue in their 

discretion [but subject to the provisions  

of section 221 of the Companies Act,  

No 61 of 1973, as amended (“the act”), 

and the company’s articles of association], 

the unissued shares of the company to 

such persons and on such terms and 

conditions as the directors may deem fit.



Welkom Yizani Investments Limited

Page 68

Notice of annual general meeting (continued)

6.  Each of the directors of the company is 

hereby authorised to do all such things, 

perform all such acts and sign all such 

documentation as may be necessary to 

effect the implementation of the ordinary 

resolutions adopted at this annual general 

meeting. 

OTHER BUSINESS

To transact any other business that may be 

transacted at an annual general meeting. 

GENERAL

An ordinary shareholder entitled to attend 

and vote at the meeting, is entitled to 

appoint one or more persons as his/her 

proxy or proxies to attend, speak and vote in 

his/her stead. A proxy so appointed need not 

be a member of the company.

Proxy forms must be deposited at the 

company’s transfer secretaries, Link Market 

Services South Africa (Proprietary) Limited,  

11 Diagonal Street, Johannesburg 2001 or 

PO Box 4844, Johannesburg 2000 not less 

than forty-eight (48) hours (Saturdays, 

Sundays and public holidays shall not be 

taken into account) before the annual 

general meeting. On a show of hands, every 

member of the company present in person 

or represented by proxy shall have one vote 

only. On a poll, every person entitled to vote 

and present in person or by proxy, and if the 

person is a body corporate, its representative, 

shall be entitled to exercise the voting rights 

determined by section 195 of the act.

By order of the board of directors

 
 
 

L J Klink 

Company secretary 

Cape Town 

30 August 2010
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